**RECEIVED**

**Nov 14 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Robert W. Buffington, Special Referee

---

Appellate Case No. 2025-000968

---

Ex Parte: Texas Insurance Company, Appellant,

Viktar Kleuchenia, Respondent,

v.

Brian McCleod, Defendant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

Michael D. Freeman, S.C. Bar #71260  
GRIFFITH, FREEMAN & LIIPFERT, LLC  
PO Drawer 570  
Beaufort, SC 29901  
mfreeman@griffithfreeman.com  
843-521-4242  
843-521-4247 (fax)

*Attorneys for Appellant Texas Insurance  
Company*

Beaufort, South Carolina

November 14, 2025

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. WHETHER THE SPECIAL REFEREE ERRED IN HIS INTERPRETATION OF SERVICE REQUIREMENTS OF THE “OFFER OF JUDGMENT FOR UIM BENEFITS”?
  
- II. IS THE AWARD OF COSTS AND INTEREST PREMISED UPON THE OFFER OF JUDGMENT VIOLATIVE OF DUE PROCESS AND THEREFORE VOID?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises from a motor vehicle accident that occurred on or about July 17, 2018, in Horry County, South Carolina. (R. p. 69). The original Summons and Complaint for this motor vehicle accident were filed on July 12, 2021. (R. pp. 68-72). The Plaintiff, Viktor Kleuchenia, served Onyx Insurance Company, Inc., the purported Underinsured Motorist Carrier, through the Director of the S.C. Department of Insurance on August 17, 2021. (R. p. 619). On March 28, 2022, the Defendant, Brian McLeod, served responses to the Plaintiff's Requests for Admissions admitting negligence and fault for the accident, as well as proximate cause for injuries suffered by the Plaintiff. (R. pp. 190-194). The Plaintiff served Texas Insurance Company through the Director of the S.C. Department of Insurance on September 27, 2022. (R. p. 623). The Plaintiff filed an Offer of Judgment against the Defendant, pursuant to Rule 68, SCRCP and S.C. Code § 15-35-400(B) on January 17, 2023. (R. pp. 77-79). The Defendant filed an acceptance of the Offer of Judgment on January 25, 2023. (R. p. 80). A Satisfaction of Judgment in the amount of \$800,000 was filed by the Plaintiff on March 27, 2023. (R. pp. 81-83). On April 10, 2023, the Plaintiff filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on Liability, enclosing as an exhibit the Defendant's responses to Plaintiff's Requests for Admissions. (R. pp. 179-194). Also on April 10, 2023, the Plaintiff filed a Motion to Strike Demand for Jury Trial and Request for Order of Reference, asking that the case be referred to Robert Buffington as the special referee. (R. pp. 195-207). On August 11, 2023, the court entered a Form 4 Order granting summary judgment, striking the Plaintiff's demand for a jury trial, and referring the case to a special referee, with additional reference to a forthcoming formal order to be prepared by Plaintiff's counsel. (R. pp. 1-5). On August 15, 2023, the Plaintiff filed an additional Motion to Strike Demand for Jury Trial and Request for Order of Reference. (R. pp. 6-

11). That same day, the court entered a formal Order Granting Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment on Liability with the instruction that the case proceed forward on the sole issue of damages. (R. pp. 12-17). On August 17, 2023, the Plaintiff filed (but did not serve) Plaintiff's Offer of Judgment for UIM Benefits. (R. pp. 84-87). The "Offer of Judgment for UIM Benefits" specifically states that the Plaintiff "hereby makes the following Offer of Judgment to Texas Insurance Company as assignee of Onyx Insurance Company, as UIM carrier," in accordance with S.C. Code § 15-35-400 and Rule 68, SCRCP. (R. p. 84).

On April 1, 2024, the Plaintiff filed a copy of a letter he purports to have sent to Texas Insurance Company giving notice of an April 9, 2024, hearing in the matter. (R. p. 208). A bench trial was held before the special referee on April 9, 2024, and an Order of Judgment for Damages was entered on June 4, 2024. (R. pp. 18-41). On June 5, 2024, the Plaintiff filed a Motion for Costs and Interest, moving the court for an order "to tax costs and to award Plaintiff the interests and costs owed for failing to accept Plaintiff's Offer of Judgment to resolve this case." (R. pp. 421-429). On July 2, 2024, the special referee entered an Order on Plaintiff's Motion for Costs and Interest. This order granted the Plaintiff's motion, awarded an additional \$5,281.26 in costs, and \$143,506.85 in interest as of June 4, 2024, with a final judgment in the amount of \$2,398,788.11 with interest to begin accruing on entry. (R. pp. 42-46). On August 20, 2024, Plaintiff's counsel sent correspondence to Texas Insurance Company notifying them of the entry of the Order on Plaintiff's Motion for Costs and Interest, demanding payment of the full amount of the judgment. (R. p. 628). On September 17, 2024, the undersigned counsel for Texas Insurance Company filed a Notice of Appearance and a Motion to Vacate Judgment pursuant to Rule 60, SCRCP on the grounds that the Plaintiff's Offer of Judgment for UIM Benefits was never served nor was any notice of hearing ever given to Texas Insurance Company. (R. pp. 430-

431).

Texas Insurance Company's Motion to Vacate was heard by the special referee on December 5, 2024. On February 28, 2025, the court entered an order denying the Motion to Vacate. (R. pp. 47-56). Texas Insurance Company then filed a Motion for Reconsideration on March 4, 2025, asserting several errors of law and fact in the ruling. (R. pp. 544-553). A hearing on the Motion for Reconsideration was held on March 19, 2025, and ultimately an order denying that motion was entered by the court on May 5, 2025. (R. pp. 57-67). A Notice of Appeal was filed the same day by counsel for Texas Insurance Company.

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

On July 17, 2018, the Plaintiff, Viktor Kleuchenia, was operating a motor vehicle heading North-bound on Highway 17 in Horry County, South Carolina. (R. p. 70). The Defendant, Brian McCleod, was traveling west on 52<sup>nd</sup> Avenue North in Horry County, South Carolina. (R. p. 70). McCleod attempted to turn south on Highway 17, pulling into the path of Kleuchenia causing the collision. (R. p. 70). As a result of the accident, Kleuchenia suffered physical injuries, medical expenses, and various future damages. Kleuchenia operated a taxi service and purchased a commercial automobile policy with Onyx Insurance Company, Inc. (hereinafter "Onyx Insurance"), Policy No. OIC-SC-0001119-02 (hereinafter the "Policy"), applicable to this loss with a policy period from March 29, 2018, to March 29, 2019. The Policy provided underinsured motorist coverage with limits of \$25,000/\$50,000. Onyx Insurance was subsequently purchased by Texas Insurance Company on June 30, 2021, by virtue of an Assumption and Indemnity Agreement. (R. p. 668).

As discussed above, on August 20, 2024, Plaintiff's counsel sent correspondence to Texas Insurance Company notifying them of the entry of the Order on Plaintiff's Motion for

Costs and Interest, demanding payment of the full amount of the judgment. (R. p. 628). This was the first demand, far in excess of the limits of the Policy, that was received by Texas Insurance Company on this claim. In response, Texas Insurance Company, via its Secretary and General Counsel Jeffrey Silver, sent correspondence to Plaintiff's counsel on September 4, 2024, requesting additional information regarding the claim and noting that Texas Insurance Company lacked information regarding the background on service and other proceedings that had occurred in the case. (R. pp. 634-635). On September 9, 2024, Texas Insurance Company tendered to the Plaintiff \$25,000, which it believed at the time was the UIM limit under the Policy. (R. p. 661). Upon reevaluation of the number of insured vehicles on the Policy at the time of the accident, which had changed since the inception of the Policy, on October 4, 2024, Texas Insurance Company tendered an additional \$25,000 (for a total of \$50,000), the applicable UIM limits under the Policy, to the Plaintiff. (R. p. 664).

Meanwhile, on September 30, 2024, the Plaintiff filed an action against Texas Insurance Company in the South Carolina Court of Common Pleas, Horry County. This action alleged causes of action against Texas Insurance Company for bad faith, breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing, breach of contract, breach of contract accompanied by fraud and/or misrepresentations, quantum meruit/unjust enrichment, and seeks "actual, consequential, and extra-contractual damages," as well as punitive damages, pre and post judgment interest including but not limited to interest on the judgment awarded by the Special Referee, costs and attorney's fees. (R. pp. 105-175). Texas Insurance Company filed a Notice of Removal to the U.S. District Court on October 7, 2024. (R. pp. 176-178). That action is currently pending.

### STANDARD OF REVIEW

In reviewing an order on a Motion to Vacate Judgment under Rule 60(b), SCRPC, the

Court of Appeals applies the abuse of discretion standard. *BB&T v. Taylor*, 369 S.C. 548, 551, 633 S.E.2d 501, 502 (2006); *see also Raby Constr., L.L.P. v. Orr*, 358 S.C. 10, 18, 594 S.E.2d 478, 482 (2004). “An abuse of discretion arises where the trial judge was controlled by an error of law or where his order is based on factual conclusions that are without evidentiary support.” *Tri-County Ice & Fuel Co. v. Palmetto Ice Co.*, 303 S.C. 237, 242, 399 S.E.2d 779, 782 (1990). However, in this case, which turns solely upon the issue of due process, the parties agree on the underlying applicable facts regarding service of documents and notice provided. Therefore, the issues before this court are limited to review of the Special Referee’s findings of law in the interpretation and application of the South Carolina Code and the Rules of Civil Procedure to the service and notice requirements set forth therein. As this appeal therefore solely presents questions of law, these findings are properly reviewed *de novo*. *S.C. Dep’t of Soc. Servs. v. Boulware*, 422 S.C. 1, 6, 809 S.E.2d 223, 226 (2018) (“Questions of statutory interpretation are questions of law, which are subject to *de novo* review and which we are free to decide without any deference to the court below.” (internal quotation marks omitted); *see also Deutsche Bank Nat’l Tr. Co. v. Estate of Houck*, 434 S.C. 500, 505, 863 S.E.2d 829, 832 (Ct. App. 2021) (citing *Ziegler v. Dorchester Cnty.*, 426 S.C. 615, 619, 828 S.E.2d 218, 220 (2019)) (“We review questions of law *de novo*.”).

## ARGUMENT

This case is fundamentally about due process. “Under Both Article I, Section 3 of the South Carolina Constitution and the fourteenth amendment to the United States Constitution, a person cannot be deprived "of life, liberty, or property without due process of law." *S.C. Nat’l Bank v. Cent. Carolina Livestock Mkt., Inc.*, 289 S.C. 309, 312, 345 S.E.2d 485, 487 (1986). “The fundamental requirements of due process include notice, an opportunity to be heard in a

meaningful way, and judicial review.” *Kurschner v. City of Camden Plan. Comm’n*, 376 S.C. 165, 171, 656 S.E.2d 346, 350 (2008). "A suit at law is not a children's game, but a serious effort on the part of adult human beings to administer justice; and the purpose of process is to bring parties into court." *Griffin v. Cap. Cash*, 310 S.C. 288, 292, 423 S.E.2d 143, 146 (Ct. App. 1992). Here, the Special Referee erred in his conclusion that conventional notions of due process, the laws of the State of South Carolina, and the procedural rules applicable to our courts, did not require service of an “Offer of Judgment for UIM Benefits,” service of a resulting “Motion for Costs and Interest,” or proper notice of hearings awarding damages in this case.

**I. THE SPECIAL REFEREE ERRED IN HIS INTERPRETATION OF SERVICE REQUIREMENTS OF THE “OFFER OF JUDGMENT FOR UIM BENEFITS.”**

In this case, as well as in the companion bad-faith claim currently pending in the S.C. District Court, the Respondent argues that Texas Insurance Company is exposed to extra-contractual damages, in excess of its UIM limits under the Respondent’s commercial automobile policy. The basis for these claimed damages is the lack of an appearance by Texas Insurance Company after service of the summons and complaint, the constructive rejection of the “Offer of Judgment for UIM Benefits,” and the resulting award made to the Respondent of costs and interest, with a final award by the Special Referee in the amount of \$2,389,788.11 (interest accruing).

- A. The service requirements are plain within the language of the statute and the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure governing offers of judgment.

In South Carolina, offers of judgment within the civil litigation framework are governed both by state statute and by the civil rules of procedure. S.C. Code § 15-35-400(A) states, in relevant part:

[a]ny party may, at any time more than twenty days before the actual trial date, file with the clerk of the court a written offer of judgment signed by the offeror or his attorney, directed to the opposing party, offering to take judgment in the offeror's favor, or as the case may be, to allow judgment to be taken against the offeror, for a sum stated therein, for property, or to the effect specified in the offer. The offeror shall give notice of the offer of judgment to the offeree's attorney, or if the offeree is not represented by an attorney, to the offeree himself, in accordance with the service rules for motions and other pleadings set forth in the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure.

S.C. Code Ann. § 15-35-400(A). The current language of S.C. § 15-35-400 was enacted in 2005 as part of the "Tort Reform Act of 2005 Relating to Medical Malpractice." In response to those revisions, the S.C. Supreme Court amended Rule 68, SCRPC in 2006, to make it consistent with the revisions to the Code. Rule 68, SCRPC (Note to 2006 Amendment). This rule states:

Any party in a civil action, except a domestic relations action, may file, no later than twenty days before the trial date, a written offer of judgment signed by the offeror or his attorney, directed to the opposing party, offering to take judgment in the offeror's favor, or to allow judgment to be taken against the offeror for a sum stated therein, or to the effect specified in the offer. Service of the offer of judgment shall be made as provided in these rules. Within twenty days after service of the offer of judgment or at least ten days prior to the trial date, whichever date is earlier, the offeree or his attorney may file a written acceptance of the offer of judgment.

Rule 68(a), SCRPC.

Both the rule and the statute mandate service of an Offer of Judgment. Rule 68(a), SCRPC, states that "[s]ervice of the offer of judgment shall be made as provided in these rules" and indeed establishes a deadline for response of the offeree based upon that date of service. (emphasis added). However, S.C. Code § 15-35-400(A) goes a step further and provides that "[t]he offeror shall give notice of the offer of judgment to the offeree's attorney, or if the offeree is not represented by an attorney, to the offeree himself, in accordance with the service rules for motions and other pleadings set forth in the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure." (emphasis

added). The rule also clearly contemplates that the offeree is entitled to notice of the offer given the stated method of acceptance: “Within twenty days after service of the offer of judgment or at least ten days prior to the trial date, whichever is earlier the offeree or his attorney may file a written acceptance of the offer of judgment.” Rule 68(a), SCRCP. (emphasis added). Furthermore, the rule contemplates notice to the offeree in the event of a withdrawal of the offer: “Any offeror may withdraw and offer of judgment prior to its acceptance or prior to the date on which it would be considered rejected by giving notice to the offeree or his attorney as provided in these rules.” *Id.* (Emphasis added).

If a statute or rule is "plain, unambiguous, and conveys a clear meaning, interpretation is unnecessary and the stated meaning should be enforced." *Maxwell v. Genez*, 356 S.C. 617, 620, 591 S.E.2d 26, 27 (2003) (citing *Knotts v. S.C. Dep't of Nat. Res.*, 348 S.C. 1, 558 S.E.2d 511 (2002)). Furthermore, "[a] statute should be so construed that no word, clause, sentence, provision or part shall be rendered surplusage, or superfluous." *State v. Sweat*, 386 S.C. 339, 351, 688 S.E.2d 569, 575 (2010); *see also Lightner v. Hampton Hall Club*, 419 S.C. 357, 364, 798 S.E.2d 555, 558-559 (2017) (statutes should be interpreted so as to "[g]iv[e] effect to each word in the statute ..."). "[T]he cardinal rule of statutory construction is to ascertain and effectuate the intent of the legislature." *Hodges v. Rainey*, 341 S.C. 79, 85, 533 S.E.2d 578, 581 (2000). "What a legislature says in the text of a statute is considered the best evidence of the legislative intent or will." *Id.* (citing Norman J. Singer, *Sutherland Statutory Construction* § 46.03 at 94 (5th ed. 1992)). If a statute's language is plain, unambiguous, and conveys a clear meaning "the Rules of Statutory Interpretation are not needed and the Court has no right to impose another meaning." *Hodges*, 341 S.C. at 85, 533 S.E.2d at 581; *see also State v. Scott*, 351 S.C. 584, 587, 571 S.E.2d 700, 702 (2002). "If a statute's language is plain and unambiguous and conveys a clear and

definite meaning, there is no occasion for employing rules of statutory interpretation and the court has no right to look for or impose another meaning.” *Miller v. Doe*, 312 S.C. 444, 447, 441 S.E.2d 319, 321 (1994). The terms must be construed in context and their meaning determined by looking at the other terms used in the statute. *State v. Morgan*, 352 S.C. 359, 366, 574 S.E.2d 203, 206 (Ct. App. 2002). Under the plain meaning rule, it is not the courts place to change the meaning of a clear and unambiguous statute. *Jones v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 364 S.C. 222, 231, 612 S.E.2d 719, 724 (Ct. App. 2005). When the terms of a statute are clear, the court must apply those terms according to their literal meaning. *Holley v. Mount Vernon Mills, Inc.*, 312 S.C. 320, 323, 440 S.E.2d 373, 374 (1994). Both the statute and the rule are clear that notice and service is required. There is no dispute that notice and service of the “Offer of Judgment for UIM Benefits” was not given to Texas Insurance Company as the UIM carrier, nor was the resulting Motion for Costs and Interest served. As such, the subsequent July 2, 2024, order awarding of costs and interest should have properly been vacated. However, the Special Referee rejected the mandatory language requiring notice and service of the offer of judgment under both the statute and the rule, focusing instead upon the language following the mandate, which deals with the *method* of service for the offer of judgment.

- B. The Special Referee was incorrect in his interpretation of the service requirements under South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure 5 and 6.

Instead of accepting the clear service obligation contained in the rule and the statute, the Special Referee chose to focus solely on the language contained in S.C. Code § 15-35-400(A) and Rule 68, SCRPC, following the notice and service mandate that deals with the method of achieving service of the offer. The Special Referee, citing *CRFE, LLC v. Greenville Cnty. Assessor*, 395 S.C. 67, 74, 716 S.E.2d 877, 881 (2011), recognized that:

‘[w]hen reading a statute, one should not concentrate on isolated phrases within the statute. Instead, we read the statute as a whole and in a manner consonant and in harmony with its purpose.’ S.C. Code Ann. § 15-35-400 addresses service [of] an offer of judgment within the language of the statute and clearly states notice shall be made ‘in accordance with the service rules for motions and other pleadings set forth in the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure.’

(R. p. 60). The Special Referee noted the equivalent language of Rule 68, SCRCPP, that “[s]ervice of the offer of judgment shall be made as provided in these rules.” Rule 68(a), SCRCPP. However, the Special Referee then chose to eschew the words “shall give notice of the offer of judgment [...] to the offeree himself” as an “isolated phrase” and instead chose to focus solely on the language instructing the offeror on how such notice was to be given.

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