**RECEIVED**

**Nov 12 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Robert W. Buffington, Special Referee

---

Appellate Case No. 2025-000968

---

Ex Parte: Texas Insurance Company, Appellant,

Viktar Kleuchenia, Respondent

v.

Brian McLeod, Defendant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

Jared C. Williams, S.C. Bar #100806  
Law Office of Jared C. Williams, LLC  
P.O. Box 403  
Mount Pleasant, SC 29465  
[jared@williamslawsc.com](mailto:jared@williamslawsc.com)  
Tel: (843) 991-6528  
*Attorney for Respondent Viktar Kleuchenia*

Charleston, South Carolina  
November 12, 2025

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

## ARGUMENT

This appeal is fundamentally about Texas Insurance’s failure to take accountability for its own negligence. To be clear, Texas Insurance brings this appeal as an attempt to avoid or otherwise limit its potential exposure in a separate pending bad faith and breach of contract case. *See Nichols v. State Farm Mut. Auto Ins.*, 279 S.C. 336, 306 S.E.2d 616 (1983) (“[I]f an insured can

demonstrate bad faith or unreasonable action by the insurer in processing a claim under their mutually binding insurance contract, he can recover consequential damages in a tort action.”).

Texas Insurance attempts to argue that a UIM carrier has no obligation to appear or otherwise respond to service of a Summons and Complaint – much less respond within thirty (30) days – and that Respondent had a duty to continue to serve it with legal documents throughout the ongoing lawsuit as if it had appeared and become a party of record to the case. Texas Insurance argues that Plaintiff’s failure to continue to serve it with legal documents after its own failure to appear is somehow grounds to vacate the July 2<sup>nd</sup> Judgment under Rule 60(b).

As correctly held by the lower court, Texas Insurance failed to appear and protect its interests in accordance with § 38-77-160, all documents were served in accordance with the applicable procedural rules, and Texas Insurance’s due process rights were not violated because it was given notice and an opportunity to appear and protect its interests. (R. pp. 56; 57-67).

**I. THE LOWER COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN FINDING THERE WERE NOT SUFFICIENT GROUNDS FOR RELIEF UNDER RULE 60(b), SCRPC, BECAUSE TEXAS INSURANCE PROVIDED NO REASONABLE BASIS FOR ITS FAILURE TO APPEAR IN ACCORDANCE WITH § 38-77-160.**

S.C. Code Ann. § 38-77-160 (“UIM Statute”), specifically states, in relevant part:

No action may be brought under the underinsured motorist provision unless copies of the pleadings in the action establishing liability are served in the manner provided by law upon the insurer writing the underinsured motorist provision. The insurer has the right to appear and defend in the name of the underinsured motorist in any action which may affect its liability and has thirty days after service of process on it in which to appear.

S.C. Code Ann. § 38-77-160 (emphasis added).

Once served, the UIM carrier has thirty (30) days to appear in the same manner as any other party. *See id.* The South Carolina Supreme Court has specifically interpreted the UIM statute’s service requirements and held that “[t]he intent of Section 38–77–160 is to protect an

insurance carrier's right to contest its liability for underinsured benefits." *Williams v. Selective Ins. Co. of Se.*, 315 S.C. 532, 534, 446 S.E.2d 402, 404 (1994).

It is not disputed that proper service was affected upon Defendant Brian McLeod and Texas Insurance. (R. pp. 618-623). It is not disputed that Texas Insurance did not make an appearance within thirty (30) of service of process. (R. pp. 88-89). Texas Insurance's appearance in the case was made on September 17, 2024, by the filing of its Notice of Appearance approximately 721 days after service of process and 105 days after entry of initial judgment. (R. pp. 88-89). Because Texas Insurance was properly served and failed to appear within thirty (30) days in accordance with § 38-77-160, it waived its right to later appear and protect its interests.

Texas Insurance does not argue any reasonable basis for failing to appear, but rather, argues § 38-77-160 does not require any appearance by a UIM carrier in response to proper service and/or the clear language setting forth a thirty (30) appearance requirement has no meaning. (R. pp. 561-562).

In asserting its argument, Texas Insurance cites a 1989 Insurance bulletin that states:

The words "may assume control of the defense" clearly indicate that the underinsured motorist has the election of: (1) relying on the continued defense by the liability carrier of the putative underinsured motorist; (2) joining with the liability carrier for the putative underinsured motorist to monitor or jointly provide a defense; or (3) requesting that the primary control of the defense be relinquished by the liability insurer when the insurer's limits have been exhausted by tender and payment to the injured party.<sup>5</sup>

First, the insurance bulletin has no precedential authority, as noted by the lower court. (R. p. 65).

---

<sup>5</sup> *Contra Cobb v. Benjamin*, 325 S.C. 573, 482 S.E.2d 589 (Ct. App. 1996) ("We hold § 38-77-160 does not require payment of the applicable liability policy limits as a precondition to collecting UIM benefits, but the UIM carrier is entitled to a credit for any amount of liability insurance coverage not exhausted in a settlement with its insured."); *see* (R. at 41) (The lower court's *Order of Judgment for Damages* provided setoff for the full liability policy limits of \$1,000,000).

Second, in citing the referenced bulletin, Texas Insurance boldly emphasizes the language permitting a UIM carrier “the election of: (1) relying on the continued defense by the liability carrier...”, suggesting this is what Texas Insurance did in this case. (Initial Brief of App., p. 14-15). However, Texas Insurance’s initial correspondence to Plaintiff on September 4, 2024, after entry of the judgment, outright states “TIC has no record of being served any documents including, but not limited to a summons.” (R. p. 634). Texas Insurance did not decline to appear because it was relying on the continued defense of the liability carrier, it simply failed to process the pleadings and had no knowledge of the lawsuit until after judgment was entered. (R. pp. 602; 63) (“[Plaintiff’s counsel] may be right. Texas may have a mailing issue, you know.”).

Third, even assuming the bulletin’s application has authority, it does not permit a UIM carrier to ignore service of process by relying on the liability carrier’s defense then later vacate judgment against the underinsured motorist because of its own election not to appear and defend. *See Ex Parte Allstate Ins. Co.*, 399 S.C. 202, 205, 528 S.E.2d 679 (Ct. App. 2000). (“[T]he UIM carrier always has the right to ‘appear and defend in the name of the underinsured in any action which may affect its liability’ notwithstanding the fact that it may not have the right to ‘control’ the defense.”) (*citing* § 38-77-160). Moreover, in direct contradiction of the cited insurance bulletin, South Carolina has clearly held that a UIM carrier has no right to rely on the defense of the liability carrier once it settles with the plaintiff. *See Cobb v. Benjamin*, 325 S.C. 573, 482 S.E.2d 589 (Ct. App. 1996) (“[W]hen a liability carrier obtains a settlement agreement relieving its insured of personal liability, its duty to defend is discharged and its counsel may withdraw. In that situation, the UIM carrier has no standing to enforce the duty to defend on the liability carrier.” (*citing* *Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co. v. Tate*, 313 S.C. 444, 447-48, 438 S.E.2d 266, 268 (Ct. App. 1993). To

the extent Texas Insurance made an election not to appear and rely on the liability carrier's defense, it cannot thereafter vacate judgment under Rule 60(b) because it made a poor decision.

Fourth, and most importantly, Texas Insurance's argument completely ignores the clear and plain language of § 38-77-160 that specifically states the underinsured motorist carrier "has thirty days after service of process on it in which to appear." *Id.* The Legislature included this specific language in the statute for a reason. The right of a UIM carrier to defend in the name of a party to an action is a right that is created by the UIM statute. *See* Rule 24, *SCRPC* (a non-party cannot participate in an action unless the Court permits it to intervene). Section 38-77-160 creates an avenue for an injured party to enforce her entitlement to UIM benefits by meeting the statutory condition of serving the pleadings on her UIM carrier. *See id.* Should the UIM carrier wish to protect its interests, the plain and clear language requires an appearance be made within thirty (30) days of service of process, just like any other entity that is served with process under the law. *See also* Rule 12(a), *SCRPC* ("A defendant shall serve his answer within 30 days after the service of the complaint upon him...."); *see also, e.g., Pilgrim v. Miller*, 350, S.C. 637, 67 S.E.2d 527 (Ct. App. 2022) (Carrier has an obligation to defend, to act diligently, to take up the matter upon receipt of pleading); *Richardson v. P.V. Inc.*, 383 S.C. 610, 682 S.E.2d 263 (2009) (Nothing in the record from carrier explaining failure to answer and negligent oversight is not grounds for relief).

The legislature clearly intended § 38-77-160 to (1) require a plaintiff to put his UIM carrier on notice (if he wishes to enforce his right to UIM coverage) by serving the pleadings on the carrier through the Department of Insurance; and (2) require the UIM carrier to act (if it wishes to exercise its right to defend) by appearing within thirty days of service. *See Donze v. General Motors*, 420 S.C. 8, 22, 800 S.E.2d 479 (2017), *quoting Barnwell v. Barber-Colman Co.*, 301 S.C. 534, 538, 393 S.E.2d 162, 163- 64 (1989) ("[Courts] cannot read into a statute something that is not within

the manifest intention of the Legislature as gathered from the statute itself. To depart from the meaning expressed by the words is to alter the statute, to legislate and not to interpret. The responsibility for the justice or wisdom of legislation rests with the Legislature, and it is the province of the Courts to construe, not to make, the laws.”) (citations omitted).

These conditions on both the injured plaintiff and the UIM carrier are strictly applied. *See Hucks v. Dolan*, 288 S.C. 468, 470 343 S.E.2d 613, 615 (1986) (“Since the right of adoption in South Carolina is not a natural right but wholly statutory, it must be strictly construed.”). On the one hand, as it relates to a plaintiff, our courts have specifically stated that a plaintiff must provide proper service in accordance with the requirements of § 38–77–160 and do so on the UIM carrier at the “early stages” of litigation to allow it the opportunity to intervene and participate. *See Ex Parte Allstate Ins. Co.*, 339 S.C. 202, 205, 528 S.E.2d 679 (Ct. App. 2000); *see also Williams v. Selective Ins. Co. of Se.*, 315 S.C. 532, 534, 446 S.E.2d 402, 404 (1994) (“[F]ailure to pursue an action against the at-fault driver [in accordance with § 38–77–160] resulted in a total waiver of Insurer’s right to defend.”). On the other hand, as it relates to an insurer, our courts have specifically stated that “[t]he insurer may not benefit from the protections of the statute when [it] does not comply with the statute.” *Floyd v. Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co.*, 367 S.C. 253, 626 S.E.2d 6 (2005) (limiting the construction of a UM/UIM statute to its “plain and unambiguous terms”).

South Carolina’s lower courts have also strictly applied § 38–77–160 as requiring an appearance by a UIM carrier within thirty (30) days of service or it waives its right to later appear and protect its interests. *See, e.g., Order Granting Plaintiff’s Motion to Strike the Appearance of UIM Carrier, Darleen Townsend vs. Ashley Davinroy Cook*, 2023-CP-10-02712, (Court of Common Pleas, County of Charleston) (January 13, 2025) (striking UIM carrier’s notice of appearance and conditional answer made one-hundred-sixty-seven [167] days after service on the

SCDOI); *Order Granting Plaintiff's Motion to Strike the Appearance of a Non-party, Allison Lee vs. Alexandria Yatese Adams-White, et. al.*, 2024-CP-10-04436, (Court of Common Pleas, County of Charleston) (April 1, 2025) (striking UM carrier's notice of appearance and conditional answer made fifty-six [56] days after SCDOI accepted service).

In fact, in an earlier order issued in this very case, Judge Kristi F. Curtis, in ruling on Plaintiff's motion for order of reference, made specific findings of fact holding Texas Insurance had been properly served and "has not filed a notice of appearance in the case or assumed control of the defense at this time and has waived its right to appear pursuant to § 38-77-160." (R. p. 7, ¶¶ 5, 8, 13). Texas Insurance does not appeal that order and only appeals the Order to Reconsider. (R. p. 90).

The only case Texas Insurance cites as an attempt to argue it has no obligation to appear within thirty (30) days is *Ex Parte S.C. Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co.*, 314 S.C. 489, 431 S.E.2d 253 (1993). However, Texas Insurance's reliance on *Ex Parte S.C. Farm Bureau* is misplaced because that case only held that § 38-77-160 does not create a statute of limitations for bringing a claim against a UIM carrier and that service on the UIM carrier outside the three-year statute of limitations was not grounds for dismissal. *See id.* The issue here is not one involving a statute of limitations in bringing the lawsuit, it is simply whether Texas Insurance appeared within the thirty (30) day requirement under § 38-77-160.

It is undisputed that Texas Insurance failed to appear and protect its interests in compliance with § 38-77-160, or at any time prior to entry of judgment. Texas Insurance provides no explanation for its failure to appear other than attempting to argue it is not required to appear. Because Texas Insurance provides no explanation, much less a reasonable explanation, it has not set forth sufficient grounds to vacate the July 2<sup>nd</sup> Judgment under Rule 60(b).

The court need not go any further in addressing Texas Insurance's remaining arguments because this issue is dispositive to the appeal. Should the court address any remaining issues and find in favor of Texas Insurance, it would be equivalent to allowing it to appear and protect its interests despite its failure to comply with § 38-77-160.

**II. THE LOWER COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN FINDING THERE WERE NOT SUFFICIENT GROUNDS FOR RELIEF UNDER RULE 60(b), SCRPC, BECAUSE ALL DOCUMENTS WERE SERVED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE APPLICABLE PROCEDURAL RULES.**

The lower court did not abuse its discretion in holding that the offer of judgment filed on August 17, 2023, was issued and served in accordance with the applicable law and procedural rules. (R. pp. 57-67). Likewise, the lower court did not abuse its discretion in holding that all other documents were properly issued and served in accordance with the procedural rules. (*Id.*).

**A. The offer of judgment was served in accordance with the clear and plain language of § 15-35-400; Rule 68, SCRPC; and Rule 5(a), SCRPC.**

S.C. Code Ann. § 15-35-400 and Rule 68, SCRPC, both govern offer of judgments and each addresses service using similar language. Specifically, § 15-35-400(A) states, in relevant part:

[A]ny party may, at any time more than twenty days before the actual trial date, file with the clerk of the court a written offer of judgment signed by the offeror or his attorney, directed to the opposing party, offering to take judgment in the offeror's favor, or as the case may be, to allow judgment to be taken against the offeror, for a sum stated therein, for property, or to effect specified in the offer. The offeror shall give notice of the offer of judgment to the offeree's attorney, or if the offeree is not represented by an attorney, to the offeree himself, **in accordance with the service rules for motions and other pleadings set forth in the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure.**

Similarly, Rule 68(a), SCRPC, states, in relevant part:

Any party in a civil action, except a domestic relations action, may file, no later than twenty days before trial date, a written offer of judgment signed by the offeror or his attorney, directed to the opposing party, offering to take judgment in the offeror's favor, or to allow judgment to be taken against the offeror for the sum stated therein, or to the effect specified in the offer. **Service of the offer of judgment shall be made as proved in these rules.**

Both § 15-35-400(B) and Rule 68, *SCRCP*, both plainly and clearly state that offers of judgment shall be served as provided by the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. *See id.*; *Carolina Power & Light Co. v. City of Bennettsville*, 314 S.C. 137, (1994) (“When a statute’s terms are clear and unambiguous on their face, there is no room for statutory construction and a court must apply the statute according to its literal meaning.”).

Rule 5(a), *SCRCP*, (“Service and Filing of Pleadings and Other Papers”) governs service of documents, including offers of judgments:

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